THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

OCT 03 2016

SC Court of Appeals

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-000432

Linda A. Gibson, individually and in capacity as
Trustee of the PAUL WILLIAM GIBSON FAMILY TRUST;
HERITAGE SEVEN, LLC; SEVEN OAKS APARTMENTS, LLC;
and 3205 PALM BOULEVARD, LLC, Appellants,

v.

ANDREW K. EPTING, JR., LLC; Andrew K. Epting, Jr.;
GEORGE J. KEFALOS, P.A.; George J. Kefalos;
GEDNEY M. HOWE, III, P.A.; Gedney M. Howe, III;
JOHN S. WEST, ATTORNEY-AT-LAW, LLC; and John S. West, Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Thomas A. Pendarvis, J.D.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in granting summary judgment in favor of the Lawyers when there was evidence in the record that the Lawyers—in breach of the professional and fiduciary duties— withheld from their Client information about the inchoate nature of the deficiency claim forming the basis of the Lawyers’ \$566,666 fee calculation?
- II. Did the circuit court err in granting summary judgment in favor of the Lawyers when there was evidence showing that the Lawyers’ \$566,666 reverse contingent fee was excessive and unreasonable based on the lack of any true foreclosure deficiency “saved” where thirty days after filing the foreclosure lawsuit the lender sold the Client’s note to a friendly creditor that wanted the property and had agreed to waive the deficiency claim before November fee document with a reverse contingency provision was signed?
- III. Did the circuit court err in granting summary judgment in favor of the Lawyers when there was evidence showing an ambiguity in the fee documents drafted by the Lawyers raising disputed questions of material fact whether the fee documents obligated the Client to pay both a reverse contingency fee and straight contingent fee?
- IV. When viewed in the Client’s favor, did the evidence before the circuit court raise disputed questions of material fact supporting each of the claims alleged in the Client’s pleadings?
- V. Did the circuit court err in denying the Client’s motion for summary judgment on the basis that as a matter of law and undisputed fact the Lawyers’ \$566,666 reverse contingent fee was excessive and unreasonable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order entering summary judgment against Appellants, Linda A. Gibson (“Ms. Gibson), individually and in her capacity as Trustee of the PAUL WILLIAM GIBSON FAMILY TRUST; HERITAGE SEVEN, LLC; SEVEN OAKS APARTMENTS, LLC; and 3205 PALM BOULEVARD, LLC (collectively “the Client”) in favor of Respondents, ANDREW K. EPTING, Jr., LLC; Andrew K. Epting, Jr.; GEORGE J. KEFALOS, P.A.; George J. Kefalos; GEDNEY M. HOWE, III, P.A.; Gedney M. Howe, III; JOHN S. WEST, ATTORNEY-AT-LAW, LLC; and John S. West (collectively “the Lawyers”) on causes of

action for, among other things, breach of fiduciary duty, legal malpractice, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, negligent misrepresentation, and unjust enrichment.

On July 30, 2013, the Client filed a lawsuit against the Lawyers alleging, among other things, that the Lawyers' claim for a \$566,666 reverse contingent fee was grossly excessive for the limited legal services the Lawyers provided in a foreclosure lawsuit and the deed-in-lieu transaction under the facts of this case. (Compl., R. 5).¹ On January 14, 2014, the Client amended her complaint to withdraw the fraud count. (Amend. Compl., R. 109). On August 14, 2015, the Client amended her complaint again (second amended complaint) adding causes of action for money had and received, cancellation of mortgage, rescission of the fee agreement and implied equity indemnity to the already existing causes of action. (Second Amend. Compl., R. 145).

The Lawyers answered the complaints denying the allegations and asserting affirmative defenses. (Ans., R. 181, 208, and 234). The parties exchanged thousands of pages of discovery and concluded fourteen depositions and twenty mediation hours.

On July 31, 2015, the parties filed cross-dispositive motions for summary judgment. (Apps. Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 582; Resps. Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 297 and 299). On October 20, 2015, the circuit court heard oral argument on the motions. (Trans., R. 266).

On January 5, 2016, the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., entered judgment for the Lawyers on all causes of action. (Ord. Form 4, R. 1). The Form 4 Order stated, "Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, filed on 7/31/2015, is GRANTED for the reasons stated in the Defendants' Memorandum in Support—based on the entire record before the court (pleadings, affidavits, memoranda, and papers)."

On January 15, 2016, the Client timely filed a motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, for reconsideration. (Motion to alter or amend, R. 728). On February 5, 2015, the Circuit Court denied the Client's Rule 59(e) motion without oral argument. (Ord., R. 2).

¹ Ms. Gibson filed her first Complaint July 30, 2013 (R. 5); filed an amended complaint (mismarked "second amended complaint") on January 13, 2014 (R. 109); and, following discovery, filed a second amended complaint (correctly marked) on October 22, 2015 (R. 145).

On February 29, 2016, the Client timely filed and served the Lawyers the notice of appeal. On March 23, 2016, the South Carolina Court of Appeals granted the Client's first request for extension to file their initial brief until April 27, 2016. (Ord.).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of a \$566,666 reverse contingent fee dispute. (Compl., R. 5) The Lawyers claim they "saved" the Client a \$1.7 million mortgage deficiency, the basis of their \$566,666.00 fee. (Epting Dep. 145:1-11, R. 479). The Client claims that when Galt Valley forgave the mortgage deficiency the deficiency claim became inchoate, and later as the result of its own business practices only, the deficiency was forgiven in exchange for a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. (Gibson Dep. 199:15-16, R. 674).

A. Linda Gibson.

Linda Gibson is a 66 year old widow. Her husband of twenty-seven years died in 2003. She is a high school graduate, and she took some college courses. Ms. Gibson's parents worked very hard with physical labor all their life, and the result of their hard work is that they were able to buy some real estate, back then worth pretty much nothing. (Gibson Aff. ¶ 2, R. 813). She inherited this real estate from her parents, which is their legacy to their family. (Gibson Aff. ¶ 2, R. 813). Today, the land is more valuable. Other than the land holdings, Ms. Gibson lives on a fixed income from a land lease and a commercial lease. Appellants, THE PAUL WILLIAM THE CLIENT FAMILY TRUST, SEVEN OAKS APARTMENTS, LLC, and 3205 PALM BOULEVARD, LLC, (collectively "Gibson Entities"), are non-income producing (shell) entities without assets. HERITAGE SEVEN, LLC, formerly held property related to the underlying Ameris action.

Ms. Gibson trusted her lawyers testifying

... and I did probably everything they asked me to do, I did. Every suggestion. And if they told me to sign something, I signed it, and I didn't really question – I left a lot of things to their judgment because I felt like they knew what they were doing as lawyers in a lawsuit where I didn't. So if they told me to sign something, I signed it.

(Gibson Dep. 171:8-20, R. 671).

B. The April Fee Agreement.

In late 2009, Ms. Gibson was in default on a \$3 million note and mortgage (“Note”) with Ameris Bank (“Ameris”). Ms. Gibson anticipated Ameris would foreclose on her Note and seek a deficiency against her as personal guarantor on the Note. (Ameris Complaint, R. 346). Ms. Gibson met with Attorney Rob Papa to discuss bankruptcy. (Gibson Aff. dated Oct. 15, 2015, at ¶ 3, R. 813). Ms. Gibson signed a fee agreement with Mr. Papa on November 6, 2009. (Papa Dep. 13:1-25, R. 437). Mr. Papa advised Ms. Gibson that she was not a bankruptcy candidate and he referred her to Mr. Epting and Mr. Kefalos to represent her in the anticipated Ameris foreclosure. (Gibson Aff. dated Oct. 15, 2015, at ¶ 3, R. 813).

When Ms. Gibson first met Mr. Epting and Mr. Kefalos, Mr. Papa accompanied her to Mr. Epting’s Charleston office. (Gibson Aff. dated Oct. 15, 2015 at ¶ 3, R. 813). Leaving that initial meeting, Ms. Gibson fell ill and was hospitalized for appendicitis. Unbeknownst to Ms. Gibson, during her hospital stay and following, Mr. Epting and Mr. Kefalos conceived of a reverse contingent fee arrangement for their representation in the anticipated foreclosure action. Under the reverse contingent fee arrangement, Mr. Epting’s and Mr. Kefalos’ fee would be based on thirty-three (33%) of any “savings” on her Ameris Note. (Epting to Papa email, dated Feb. 4, 2010, R. 593). On February 4, 2010, Mr. Epting emailed Mr. Papa the terms of his proposed reverse contingent fee idea. (Epting to Papa email, dated Feb. 4, 2010, R. 593).

The record does not show Mr. Papa having acknowledged or responded to the February 4th email. (Epting to Papa email, dated Feb. 4, 2010, R. 593). Mr. Epting did not copy Ms. Gibson on the February 4th email. (Epting to Papa, February 4, 2010 email, R. 593). Ms. Gibson never received the February 4th email until discovery in this fee dispute action. (Gibson Aff. dated Oct. 15, 2015 at ¶ 8, R. 815).

On April 26, 2010, Ms. Gibson signed a contingent fee document (“April Agreement”) at Mr. Epting’s office. (April 7, 2010 fee agreement, R. 594). The April Agreement is the first fee document that the Client signed with Mr. Epting. (April 7, 2010 fee agreement, R. 594). The April Agreement states “George [Kefalos] and I will handle the existing case against Re/Max, Rolando, Moore & Ameris on a contingency, as set forth in our agreement of February 4, 2010.” (April 7, 2010 fee agreement, R. 594).

Ms. Gibson testified Mr. Epting did not show her the February 4th email at execution of the April Agreement. (Gibson Aff. dated Oct. 15, 2015 at ¶ 8, R. 815). Mr. Epting testified “[Ms. Gibson] and I never had a discussion about whether she saw this [February 4th] email.” (Epting Dep. 52:9-13, R. 462). Mr. Epting testified also “I do not recall if I gave her a copy of the February 4th email.” (Epting Dep. 57:5-11, R. 463).

Mr. Epting and Mr. Kefalos claim they relied on Mr. Papa to explain their February 4th email to Ms. Gibson. Mr. Kefalos testified, “like say you represent Alcoa Aluminum [] you’ve [Papa] made the arrangement on behalf of Alcoa...” (Kefalos Dep. 27:10-28:20, R. 682; Epting Dep. 35:1-7, R. 460; 43:1-5, R. 653). Ms. Gibson testified, “[w]ell, I did not hire Rob Papa to negotiate any kind of deal with other lawyers. I did not hire him to do that.” (Gibson Dep. 156:15-18; 157:1-25, R. 668-69).

The April Agreement does not contain any requirement that Ms. Gibson grant to her Lawyers mortgages on her property to secure the Lawyer’s fee arrangement. (April 7, 2010 fee agreement, R. 594).

On June 15, 2010, Ameris filed the anticipated foreclosure action against the Client. (Ameris Complaint, R. 346). Ameris’ foreclosure action sought to foreclose Ms. Gibson’s \$3 million Note and mortgage, and collect any deficiency remaining after the sale of the mortgage premises. (Ameris Complaint, R. 346). A month after filing the foreclosure action, Ameris sold Ms. Gibson’s Note to GALT VALLEY, LLC (“Galt Valley”). (McVey letter to Epting, dated Aug. 12, 2010, R. 363).

C. GALT VALLEY, LLC.

Galt Valley is in the business of acquiring and rehabilitating distressed real estate assets. (Danhour Aff. ¶2, dated Aug. 21, 2015, R. 713). On July 14, 2010, Galt Valley purchased a portfolio of non-performing notes from Ameris Bank, including the Client’s Note. (Danhour Aff. ¶ 3, R. 713). Galt Valley purchased Ameris’ non-performing notes to get fee simple ownership of the underlying property, rehabilitate the property and sell it for a profit. (Danhour Aff. ¶ 5, R. 713). Galt Valley expedites getting ownership of the property from the debtor-borrowers by offering a friendly foreclosure by deed-in-lieu, even sometimes by offering “cash [to borrowers] for keys” as an inducement to expedite the deed-in-lieu transaction. (Danhour Dep. 22:1-23:25, R. 644).

Galt Valley does not seek to collect the deficiency against debtor-borrowers of its asset purchases. (Danhour Aff. ¶8, R. 714). Galt Valley did not seek a deficiency from any of the Ameris debtor-borrowers, or any guarantor, including Ms. Gibson. (Danhour Dep. 26:1-15, R. 645). Galt Valley desired a friendly deed-in-lieu of foreclosure and forgiveness of debt from each of the Ameris debtor-borrowers. (Danhour Aff. ¶8, R. 714). Galt Valley's ordinary and usual practice is simply to seek a settlement conference with the distressed borrower to "break down the barriers – the barriers that are put up through litigation and try to reach something amicably." (Danhour Dep. 25:1-25, R. 645).

In August 2010, Galt Valley was not seeking a deficiency judgment against the Client. Mr. Danhour testified, "...[n]o, that's not our [Galt] general business practice. Our – we would have been the most happy with the next day executing a deed in lieu of foreclosure and being able to get fee simple control of the real estate." (Danhour Dep. 30:1-20, R. 646). Galt Valley did not expressly tell Mr. Epting that Galt Valley would accept a deed-in-lieu for debt, Mr. Danhour of Galt Valley testified, "*I just don't think that's how you do it.*" (Danhour Dep. 202:1-25, R. 577).

On August 12, 2010, Galt Valley solicited Mr. Epting proposed the parties "work out a solution." (McVey letter to Epting, dated Aug. 12, 2010, R. 363). The Lawyers did not ask Galt Valley if they would accept a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. (Kefalos letter to West, Sept. 23, 2010, R. 780). On October 18, 2010, Galt Valley solicited Mr. Epting again for "you and your client [the Client] for a proposal to try and resolve this [deficiency] matter. (McVey letter to Epting dated Oct. 18, 2010, R. 372). The Lawyers again did not ask Galt Valley if they would accept a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. (Danhour Aff. ¶¶ 11-13, R. 714-15); (Kefalos letter to West dated Sep. 23, 2010, R. 780).

In October 2010, Galt Valley, through its lawyer, Ian McVey, sought a settlement conference with the Client's counsel, Mr. Epting. (Danhour Aff. ¶ 10, R. 714). Again, the Lawyers did not ask Galt Valley if they would accept a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. (Danhour Aff. ¶ 13, R. 715).

Mr. Epting rejected a settlement conference with Galt Valley stating "*Ian, our client [Ms. Gibson] is not going to be involved in any discussion with you. If you want to talk with me and George this afternoon then please let us know what number to use to call you and*

what time". (Epting email to McVey dated Oct. 22, 2010, R. 723). McVey replied, "*Drew, perhaps you misunderstand. I am suggesting a settlement conference between the parties under the supervision of counsel. Does that interest you? Ian.*" (Epting email to McVey dated Oct. 22, 2010, R. 723). The Lawyers again did not ask Galt Valley if they would accept a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. (Kefalos letter to West dated Sep. 23, 2010, R. 780).

Mr. Epting replied, "...[] *there is nothing to talk about unless you want the property... [] ...could I suggest we talk about the deed in reduction.*" (Epting email to McVey dated Oct. 22, 2010, R. 723). Mr. Epting proposed that Galt Valley tender a "deed-in-reduction" of debt proposal to reduce the deficiency.² (Epting email to McVey dated Oct. 21, 2010, R. 598).

Responding to Mr. Epting's request that Galt Valley make a "deed-in-reduction" offer, on October 25, 2010, Galt Valley tendered Epting his "deed-in-reduction" settlement proposal suggesting that the Client (a) "execute a non-merger deed-in-reduction for both properties in favor of Galt Valley, LLC;" and, "execute a new promissory note in the total amount of \$1.5 million in favor of Galt Valley, LLC." (McVey letter to Epting dated Oct. 25, 2010, R. 49-50).

On November 3, 2010, Mr. Epting wrote to McVey and rejected the "deed-in-reduction" settlement proposal. (Epting letter to McVey dated Nov. 3, 2010, R. 60). The Lawyers again did not ask Galt Valley if they would accept a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. (Epting letter to McVey dated Nov. 3, 2010, R. 60); (Danhour Aff. ¶ 13, R. 715).

The next day McVey wrote "*I must say that I am disappointed that your client does not want to attempt to negotiate, if your client does not want to negotiate, I'm not sure why my client would accept a deed to the property.*" (McVey letter to Epting dated Nov. 4, 2010, R. 381). The Lawyers did not ask Galt Valley to accept a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. (Danhour Aff. ¶ 13, R. 715).

² A "deed-in-reduction" (according to the Florida "Law Review" article) is an equitable remedy whereby a debtor conveys its mortgaged property to the bank without condition whereby the bank retains all legal rights to collect the deficiency against the debtor.

Ms. Gibson was not aware Galt Valley sought a settlement conference with her to discuss a deed-in-lieu. (Gibson Aff. ¶ 7, R. 815). Ms. Gibson was also not aware the Lawyers were not offering a Galt Valley a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. (Gibson Aff. ¶ 5, R. 814). No settlement conference ever took place between the Client's and Galt Valley's lawyers. (Danhour Dep. 92:1-25; 94:1-25, R. 647-48).

On November 8, 2010, Galt Valley demanded the Client accept a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, or face litigation. (McVey letter to Epting dated Nov. 8, 2010, R. 62).

Mr. Epting testified that he and Mr. Kefalos were "surprised" Galt Valley decided to waive the deficiency. (Epting Dep. 110:24; 111:1-4, R. 473); (Kefalos Dep. 71:1-5, R. 514).

D. The November Fee Agreement.

On November 18, 2010, the Lawyers asked the Client to sign another fee document entitled "Attorney-Client Contract." (November 18, 2010 fee document, R. 67). The November document states in relevant part as follows:

...for their [lawyers] services, in the defense of and pursuit of a counterclaim... LAW FIRM shall receive a fee based upon the total recovery according to the following schedules:

- a. One-third (1/3) of all sums saved CLIENT from the deficiency amount claim by Ameris, in the amount of \$1,700,000.00.

in addition to the fees above, CLIENT will be responsible for paying the costs and expenses reasonably necessary and incurred by LAW FIRM. LAW FIRM will advance these costs during the prosecution of the case but will deduct them at the conclusion of the case from CLIENT'S portion of the proceeds following the payment of attorney fees.

The obligation of CLIENT under this Contract shall be secured by a Mortgage to Gedney Mr. Howe III and John Mr. West on that certain real estate in Berkeley County, identified on Exhibit A attached hereto.

LAW FIRM shall be entitled to enforce the obligations under the Contract by foreclosure of the Mortgage only after the expiration of twelve (12) months from the later of (i) the date of final judgment (including final appeal) entered in a case

pending in Charleston County Court of Common Pleas, captioned Linda A. Ms. Gibson, et al v. Rolando V. Villavicencio, et al., Case No. 2008-CP-10-4282, or (ii) the date of final judgment (including final appeal) entered in a case pending in Berkeley County Court of Common Pleas, captioned Galt Valley, LLC v. Linda A. Ms. Gibson, et al, Case No. 2010-CP-08-2134.

(November 18, 2010 fee document, R. 67) (emphasis added).

The Lawyers computed their Ameris fee as the difference between the Note principal (\$3 million) and value of the Note collateral (\$1.3 million) to arrive at a \$1.7 million deficiency “saved” and resulting \$566,666.00 fee. (November 18, 2010 fee document, R. 67). The November Agreement specifies the total deficiency “savings” to be \$1.7 million. (November 18, 2010 fee document, R. 67). The record does not show the Lawyers negotiated the principal down or the collateral up. The November Agreement specifies the total deficiency “savings” to be \$1.7 million. (*Id.*)

To secure the Lawyers’ fee, they asked Ms. Gibson to sign a mortgage against property to Mr. Howe, individually, and to Mr. West, individually, in the amount of \$566,666.00. (November 18, 2010 fee document, R. 67).³

The Lawyers claim that the November Agreement is a memorialization of part one of the dual-fee arrangement under the April fee document – *i.e.*, the reverse contingent fee. (Epting Dep. 78:21-25; 79:15, R. 468); (Kefalos Dep. 24:23, R. 509). Ms. Gibson claims she agreed to pay a single-fee – *i.e.*, contingent fee in the Ameris matter testifying, “...*like a lawyer takes a case, and if he recovers something, then I pay.*” (Gibson Dep. 108:2; 109:8-25; 110:13-20, R. 662-64). A disputed fact exists as to whether the November agreement constitutes a dual fee obligation (reverse and straight fee) or a single contingent fee. (Gibson Aff. dated Oct. 15, 2010 at ¶ 6, R. 815).

Prior to executing the November Agreement, Mr. Epting advised the Client to get a

³ On December 8, 2010, Gedney Howe and John West (“Mortgagees”) recorded mortgages against separate and several of Ms. Gibson’s real properties, bearing TMS Nos. 271-00-01-003; 263-00-01-032; 248-00-02-042; 271-00-01-037; 271-00-01-040; 271-00-01-084; 271-00-01-185; and, 271-00-02-030 in the amount of \$566,666.66. (Mortgages, R. 83-95).

second opinion of counsel respecting the reasonableness of their fee; and, the Client chose Attorney Paul Tecklenburg. (Epting Dep. 81:1-25, R. 469).

On October 29, 2010, Mr. Kefalos wrote Mr. Tecklenburg stating relevant part:

Paul, I am writing to explain that I need a few minutes of your time to review a fee arrangement I have with Linda Ms. Gibson...

[] The second action involves the defense of a foreclosure action brought against Linda Gibson by First Citizens Bank. This case is pending before Judge Scarborough and there are no defenses to it. *This is being handled on an hourly basis* and we are simply trying to work out a payment plan for the \$450,000.00 deficiency judgment.”

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