THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

SEP 08 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2013-CP-10-4450  
Appellate Case No. 2016-000432

Linda A. Gibson, individually and in capacity as  
Trustee of the Paul William Gibson Family Trust;  
Heritage Seven, LLC; Seven Oaks Apartments,  
LLC; and 3205 Palm Boulevard, LLC,

Appellants,

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

## ARGUMENTS

The trial court properly granted the Attorneys' Motion for Summary Judgment, for the following reasons: (I) no evidence existed that the Attorneys breached any fiduciary or professional duty owed to Gibson; (II) no evidence existed of any breach of any fee agreements by the Attorneys; (III) no evidence existed of any misrepresentations by the Attorneys to Gibson related to the fee agreement; (IV) no evidence existed to support Gibson's claims for unjust enrichment, equitable indemnity, conversion, or demand for an accounting against the Attorneys; (V) no evidence existed to support a claim that the Attorneys violated the Unfair Trade Practices Act; and (VI) no evidence existed to support Gibson's action to declare the Attorneys' fee agreement with her void or unenforceable.

**I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED THE ATTORNEYS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE ATTORNEYS BREACHED ANY FIDUCIARY OR PROFESSIONAL DUTY.**

Regardless of whether Gibson styles her first cause of action as one for breach of fiduciary duty or legal malpractice, there is no evidence to support her claim, and as a result the trial court properly granted summary judgment on this cause of action. Gibson voices no complaint about the quality of the legal work provided, the fidelity with which the Attorneys provided it, or the results obtained by the Attorneys. Rather, she charges them with malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty in the formation of the attorney-client relationship. To prove a breach of fiduciary duty, a plaintiff must prove three elements: (1) the existence of a fiduciary relationship; (2) a breach of the fiduciary duties owed; and (3) damages proximately resulting from the wrongful conduct. RFT Management Co., LLC v. Tinsley & Adams, L.L.P., 399 S.C. 322, 335-36, 732 S.E.2d 166, 173 (2012). "A fiduciary relationship exists when one reposes special confidence in another, so that the latter, in equity and good conscience, is bound to act in

good faith and with due regard to the interests of the one reposing confidence.” O’Shea v. Lesser, 308 S.C. 10, 15, 416 S.E.2d 629, 631 (1992). “Our courts have long recognized that an attorney-client relationship is, by its very nature, a fiduciary relationship.” RFT, 399 S.C. at 336, 732 S.E.2d at 173, quoting Spence v. Wingate, 395 S.C. 148, 158, 716 S.E.2d 920, 926 (2011). However, the plaintiff must still prove a breach of the fiduciary duty by the attorney that proximately caused damages. See id.

In a legal malpractice action, a plaintiff must prove four elements: (1) the existence of an attorney-client relationship; (2) a breach of duty by the attorney; (3) damage to the client; and (4) proximate causation of the client’s damages by the breach. Rydde v. Morris, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009). “Typically, a plaintiff in a legal malpractice case must establish the standard of care through expert testimony, unless the subject matter is of common knowledge to laypersons.” Southeastern Housing Foundation v. Smith, 380 S.C. 621, 648, 670 S.E.2d 680, 694 (Ct. App. 2008). When a fiduciary duty arises out of the same relationship created by the attorney-client relationship and is based on the same material facts, a plaintiff’s claim for breach of fiduciary duty should be dismissed as duplicative of the legal malpractice claim. See id. at 647, 670 S.E.2d at 694 n. 18; see also RFT, 399 S.C. at 336-37, 732 S.E.2d at 173-174. In other words, to the extent the breach of fiduciary duty and the legal malpractice fall within the same capacities as attorney, the breach of fiduciary duty claim is duplicative. Id. Because Gibson has asserted her first cause of action as one for breach of fiduciary duty and legal malpractice in the new Second Amended Complaint and she relies upon the same facts to support both causes of action, the Court should evaluate the Attorneys’ Motion for Summary Judgment under the elements of a legal malpractice claim. In this case, Gibson did not establish the standard of care for entering into an attorney-client relationship, or specifically a fee agreement, by expert

testimony, did not present evidence of any breach of the standard of care, and put forth no evidence to demonstrate that the fee was anything but reasonable.

**A. Gibson did not present expert testimony related to the standard of care.**

Gibson did not put forth any expert testimony to establish the standard of care for entering into an attorney-client relationship or, specifically, a fee agreement. Gibson identified Harry S. Swagart, III, Esquire, as an expert on or about December 18, 2014. During his deposition, Mr. Swagart testified that his testimony was limited to enforceability of the fee agreements between the Appellants and the Attorneys and the reasonableness of the fee earned by the Attorneys. (R.p. 419 – 420, 40:20 – 41:22). Mr. Swagart did not testify regarding any standard of care related to the actions by the Attorneys. Rather, Mr. Swagart limited his testimony to his legal opinion that there was not an enforceable fee agreement between Gibson and the Attorneys.

Further, to the extent the Court considers Ms. Ballard’s affidavit filed on November 18, 2013, Ms. Ballard stated in her affidavit that she “was asked to assume, and [has] assumed, the facts as set forth in the verified complaint and proposed amended complaint are accurate.” (R.p. 810, ¶ 8). In other words, Ms. Ballard did not review any documents or verify the accuracy of the facts alleged in Gibson’s proposed Amended Complaint. (R.p. 811, ¶ 12). As a result, Gibson has failed to put forth any expert testimony to establish the standard of care as it relates to the Attorneys’ action in this case.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> Gibson also identified Ms. Ballard as an expert on or about August 11, 2015, but Ms. Ballard did not provide a new affidavit at that time. In fact, when Gibson moved to amend her complaint for the third time on August 14, 2015, and sought to add a claim for legal malpractice, she attached Ms. Ballard’s November 18, 2013, affidavit in support. Further, Gibson filed an affidavit by Ms. Ballard on January 14, 2016, after the trial court had granted the Attorneys’ Motion for Summary Judgment. (R.pp. 792 – 795). Because this affidavit was not presented to the trial court before its ruling on the Attorneys’ Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court should disregard it.

**B. Gibson presented no evidence of any breach of the standard of care by the Attorneys.**

Gibson also did not put forth any evidence of a breach of the standard of care by the Attorneys. Rather, all the evidence in this case demonstrates that when Gibson executed the April agreement on April 26, 2010, the Attorneys entered into a simple fee agreement with her wherein they would receive a contingency fee on any savings realized by her from the debt owed to Ameris Bank on the apartment complex loan. No evidence whatsoever suggests that Gibson was at a bargaining disadvantage in negotiating this retainer agreement. Her lawyer, Mr. Papa, sought Attorney Kefalos out to represent her. (R.p. 335). Mr. Papa accompanied her when she met with the Attorneys, and he proposed the terms of retention that the parties ultimately agreed to after consulting with Gibson. (R.p. 337). There is nothing unusual or oppressive about the agreement itself. If the Attorneys were negligent or breached their fiduciary duties in entering into this fee agreement, it is impossible for any attorney to safely negotiate an agreement with a client.

After Mr. Richter withdrew his representation of Gibson, she contacted Mr. Papa about possible bankruptcy issues and financial matters. Prior to referring Gibson to Attorneys, Mr. Papa advised her on possible bankruptcy but reached the conclusion that bankruptcy was not a viable option. Mr. Papa described a financial disaster about to befall Gibson. (R.p. 442, 38:22 – 39:6). As a result of the apartment complex loan, Gibson faced possible foreclosure actions by Ameris Bank on the apartment complex and by First Citizens on her beach house with sufficient unencumbered assets to cover any deficiency judgments in those two foreclosure actions. (R.pp. 458 – 459, 22:1 – 25:14). At that time, Mr. Papa believed it was best to put together a team of lawyers to assist Gibson with her financial situation, and he did so by referring her to Attorney Kefalos, who in turn sought the assistance of Attorney Epting with his expertise in banking

matters. (R.p. 442, 38:22 – 39:6).

From the very outset of possible representation, Attorney Kefalos informed Gibson's attorney, Mr. Papa, that the fee arrangement may require a reverse contingency fee secured by a mortgage on real property. (R.p. 336). Specifically, Attorney Kefalos informed Mr. Papa that "since the most significant benefit to be had from the case might be limited to a forgiveness of the \$2 mil + loan, there would be no corpus from which to calculate a fee." (R.p. 336). Attorney Kefalos again informed Gibson, through her attorney, that "[u]nder these circumstances we would have to work out a contingency fee arrangement with the client, that would provide for a fee in a percentage of the savings and be secured by a mortgage on property." (R.p. 336). From the very beginning of the possible representation, Gibson understood that the representation by Attorneys Kefalos and Epting would involve a fee based upon the percentage on the deficiency savings secured by a mortgage, and her attorney, Mr. Papa, acknowledged such in his e-mail to Attorney Epting on December 11, 2009. (R.pp. 336 – 337).

After Gibson met with Attorneys Kefalos and Epting and Mr. Papa, she, through Mr. Papa, retained Attorney Epting on an hourly basis to represent her in negotiations with Ameris Bank related to possible forgiveness of the loan. (R.p. 337). At this time, the fee arrangement with Attorney Epting was limited to negotiation with Ameris Bank and did not include litigation services. (R.p. 337). However, if Ameris Bank filed a foreclosure action or it became "more provident than not to bring the bank into either the existing litigation or a separate lawsuit," Mr. Papa stated that Gibson would enter into a separate fee agreement with Attorney Epting "based on the contingency discussion we had yesterday." (R.p. 337). Mr. Papa wrote that this option had been agreed to by Gibson after he spent time reviewing the various options with her. (R.p. 337).

On February 4, 2010, as Attorney Epting initiated settlement discussions with Ameris Bank on behalf of Gibson, he memorialized the fee agreement in an e-mail to Mr. Papa. (R.p. 339). The e-mail stated that all litigation except for the Ameris case would be handled on a contingency of 33%, 40% if placed on the active trial roster, and 50% if the case has an appeal filed. (R.p. 339) (emphasis added). Attorney Epting agreed that he would work for the next sixty (60) days on an hourly basis to see if an early resolution with Ameris Bank was possible, but thereafter, if resolution was not possible, Gibson would enter into a contingency fee agreement based upon the savings from any possible deficiency judgment and consistent with Mr. Papa's e-mail of December 11, 2009. (R.p. 339).

When it appeared a resolution would not be forthcoming with Ameris Bank and after sixty days passed, on April 7, 2010, Attorney Epting sent Gibson the contingency fee agreement discussed in the February 4, 2010, e-mail to Mr. Papa and consistent with Mr. Papa's e-mail of December 11, 2009. (R.p. 340). The letter stated that "George and I will handle the existing case against Re/Max, Rolando, Moore & Ameris on a contingency, as set forth in our agreement of February 4, 2010." (R.p. 340). Gibson signed the fee agreement on April 26, 2010. (R.p. 340). During this time, Attorneys Kefalos and Epting also conversed with Attorneys Howe and West regarding strategy (i.e., whether to join Ameris in the pending suit against Re/Max, where to file suit against Ameris, jury vs. non-jury, when to file suit, etc.). (R.pp. 475 – 476, 124:23 – 125:12).

At the conclusion of the foreclosure action, Gibson and the Attorneys executed the November 18, 2010, fee agreement and then a mortgage to Attorneys West and Howe. (R.pp. 385 – 386). The November 18, 2010, fee agreement specified the total savings to be \$1.7 million, approximately the deficiency amount claimed by Mr. McVey in his October 25th

letter. (R.p. 385). Contrary to Gibson's arguments, the November 18, 2010, fee agreement merely memorialized application of the prior fee agreement entered into by Gibson on April 26, 2010, for a contingency fee based on the savings realized by Gibson from the alleged deficiency, by assigning a specific value to the savings. It was not a new fee agreement. Because the April 26, 2010, agreement required a calculation of the savings (which continued to increase due to interest and required valuation of two pieces of collateral), the Attorneys informed Gibson that she would need to seek the advice of independent counsel, and Gibson selected Mr. Tecklenburg. Mr. Tecklenburg advised Gibson that she had entered into a "simple but likely enforceable agreement with Drew Epting, providing that one-third of any savings in the litigation with Ameris would be considered a fee earned by your counsel of record." (R.pp. 481 – 482). Mr. Tecklenburg further advised Gibson that they "negotiated the total amount of the fee earned in the Ameris deficiency litigation to be limited to \$567,000.00." (R.pp. 481 – 482).

The evidence clearly demonstrates that the Attorneys dutifully informed Gibson about the fee arrangement from the very beginning, offering to work on an hourly basis for a period of time before converting to a contingency fee. Gibson clearly understood the fee arrangement, as Gibson's attorney, Mr. Papa, confirmed the fee arrangement in writing on December 11, 2009, and informed the Attorneys that this option had been selected after reviewing the various options with Gibson. When it came time to apply the fee agreement to the settlement reached in this case, the Attorneys informed Gibson that she needed the advice of independent counsel, allowed Gibson to select her own counsel, and allowed the independent counsel to negotiate the amount of actual savings realized by Gibson (and thereby, the amount of the fee earned). The only evidence in this case shows that the Attorneys dutifully and properly advised Gibson with regard to the fee agreement, and as a result, the trial court properly granted the Attorneys' Motion for

Summary Judgment.

**C. The fee earned by the Attorneys pursuant to the April agreement is reasonable in light of the facts and circumstances surrounding its entry.**

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